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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

DISTRICT OF NEVADA

TRINITY’S JEWELRY, LLC,
Plaintiff,

VS.

INQUISITION TATTOO, INC., TATIANA
METAXA aka TATIANA EIVIN or
TATIANA METAXA-ROZENFELD, and
MICHAEL METAXA,

Defendants.

2:08-cv-00273
COMPLAINT

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
; March 4, 2008
)

)

)

)

Plaintiff Trinity’s Jewelry, LLC, by and through its attorneys, Law Offices of Philip A.

Kantor, P.C., for its complaint in this action alleges:
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE

1. This is an action for trademark infringement and false advertising under the
Trademark Act of 1946 as amended (the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1051 ef seq.). This Court has

jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1121 (actions arising under the Federal Trademark

Act).
2. Venue is proper in this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b).

PLAINTIFF; PLAINTIFF’S BUSINESS AND MARKS

3. Plaintiff is a Nevada limited liability company doing business at 8414 W. Farm Road,
Suite 180-528, Las Vegas, Nevada 89131. Plaintiff’s principal, Lori Jeanne Foell (“Foell”), began the
business of Trinity’s Jewelry as a sole proprietorship in the summer of 2003. Effective January 25,

2008, Foell assigned her entire right, title and interest in the business of Trinity’s Jewelry to plaintiff.

4. Since the summer of 2003, first the sole proprietorship, Trinity’s Jewelry, and then
plaintiff have continuously manufactured and sold high-quality jewelry, principally in the form of
body chains, under the trademarks HAREM or HAREM BODY CHAINS (the “Marks”).! Plaintiff
sells its jewelry through its website at www.trinitysjewelry.com. To date, plaintiff’s jewelry has been
sold and shipped under the Marks to customers in all fifty states and overseas, and to customers in
New York as of 2003. Based upon the length of time plaintiff’s jewelry has been sold throughout the

United States and overseas, as well as the quality of the product, plaintiff’s jewelry has become

! Throughout this Complaint, the terms “plaintiff’s jewelry” or “plaintiff’s goods” refer generally to
the jewelry made and sold by Trinity’s Jewelry, the sole proprietorship, prior to January 25, 2008, and
by plaintiff on or after January 25, 2008.
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recognized as the premier line of such jewelry anywhere, and the Marks have become highly

distinctive of plaintiff’s jewelry.

5. Foell sought registration of the HAREM BODY CHAINS mark with the United
States Patent & Trademark Office (the “USPTQO”) on March 15, 2007. The USPTO issued a
registration of the mark for jewelry chains on November 13, 2007 (Registration No. 3,334,274). A
copy of the registration as reflected in the Trademark Electronic Search System is annexed as
Exhibit 1. Assignment of this registration was made from Foell to plaintiff on February 14, 2008, and

reflected in USPTO public records on February 28, 2008.

6.  Plaintiff sought registration of the HAREM mark for jewelry with the USPTO on
January 30, 2008 (Application Serial No. 77/384,752). The HAREM application is based on prior use

in interstate commerce of the mark for jewelry dating back to 2003.

DEFENDANTS: DEFENDANTS’ BUSINESS

7.  Upon information and belief, the three defendants jointly conduct the business that is
at the heart of the allegations of this Complaint, and are all directly engaged in the conduct at issue in
the Complaint. Beginning as “israeli_inkvizitor” on eBay as early as 2001, Tatiana and Michael
Metaxa, upon information and belief husband and wife, sold tattoo-related good and services from
Nazareth Illit in Israel. Upon information and belief, the individual defendants relocated to 58 East
21% Street, Huntington Station, New York 11746, and formed a New York corporation, Inquisition
Tattoo, Inc., to conduct some or all of their business. Effective May 18, 2007, defendants’ eBay
User ID changed from “israeli_inkvizitor” to “inquisition-tattoo.” Defendant Tatiana Metaxa has

variously been known as Tatiana Eivin and Tatiana Metaxa-Rozenfeld.
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8. This Court has personal jurisdiction over defendants, because defendants advertise
infringing product in the District of Nevada, and have sold and shipped infringing product to the
District of Nevada.

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION FOR AN INJUNCTION AND

DAMAGES UNDER LANHAM ACT §§ 32 AND 43(a) BY
REASON OF TRADEMARK INFRINGEMENT

9.  Plaintiff repeats and realleges the allegations of paragraphs 1 through 8 as though set

forth in full hereat.

Defendants’ Infringing Use of the Marks

10. Exhibit 2 contains a printout of the home page of defendants’ eBay store entitled

“Sexy Naughty Crotchless” as it appeared on February 7, 2008.

11. Exhibit 3 contains a printout of product offerings obtained by clicking the category
“Full Body Chains” on the home page, as it appeared on February 10, 2008. The Marks appear in

connection with many, if not most of the goods displayed for sale, alone or in combination with other

terms.

12.  Exhibit 4 contains a printout of product offerings obtained by clicking the category
“Anklets and toe rings” on the home page, as it appeared on February 12, 2008. The Marks appear in

connection with many of the goods displayed for sale, alone or in combination with other terms.

13.  Exhibit 5 contains a printout of product offerings obtained by clicking the category
“Bracelets and Rings” on the home page, as it appeared on February 12, 2008. The Marks appear in

connection with many of the goods displayed for sale, alone or in combination with other terms.
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14.  Exhibit 6 contains a printout of the “Measurements Guide” displayed at the Sexy
Naughty Crotchless eBay store as it appeared on February 7, 2008. The Marks are used, alone or in

combination with other terms, in the “Measurements Guide.”

15.  Exhibit 7 contains a printout of the “About My Store” feature of the Sexy Naughty
Crotchless eBay store as it appeared on February 8, 2008. On the second page of this section,
defendants write “Here we are, tattoo artist and designer, owners of ‘Inquisition Tattoo,” aka

Inkvisitors” {sic].

16.  Exhibit 8 contains a printout of the eBay “My World: inquisition-tattoo” feature as it
appeared on February 10, 2008. The Marks are used, alone or in combination with other terms, in the

“My World: inquisition-tattoo™ feature.

17.  Exhibit 9 contains a printout of feedback from customers of the Sexy Naughty
Crotchless eBay store, acknowledging the effect of defendants’ use of the Marks. For example, the
eBay customer known as “eljannah” wrote on April 16, 2007: “I’m bringing sexy back with my harem
chain!” The eBay customer known as “ksenia333” wrote on December 6, 2006: “Great seller! Love

',,

the harem chain

18. In or about November 2007, defendants went live with a website at the domain name
www.sexy-naughty-crotchless.com. Exhibit 10 is a printout of pages from the website as it appeared

on February 11, 2008.

19.  Exhibit 11 contains a printout of product offerings obtained by clicking the category
“Full Body Chains” on the home page, as it appeared on February 11, 2008. The Marks appear, alone
or in combination with other terms, in connection with many, if not most of the goods displayed for

sale.
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20.  Exhibits 12, 13 and 14 contain printouts of pages from the website www.sexy-
naughty-crotchless.com as it appeared on February 11, 2008 (category “Bracelets Rings” “Anklets Toe
Rings” and “Measurements” respectively). Use of the Marks shown in these exhibits is similar to the

use made in the equivalent categories of defendants’ Sexy-Naughty-Crotchless eBay store.

21.  Exhibit 15 contains a printout of pages from the Sexy-Naughty-Crotchless profile on

MySpace.com as it appeared on February 7, 2008. Infringing use of the Marks may be seen on the

fourth page.

22.  Exhibit 16 contains a printout of pages from the Sexy-Naughty-Crotchless profile on
digg.com as it appeared on February 3, 2008. Infringing use of the Marks may be seen on the first

page.
Likelihood of Confusion and Palming Off

23.  Plaintiff’s and defendants’ goods sold under the Marks are similar goods sold in
similar channels to similar customers. Both plaintiff and defendants sell jewelry body chains. Both
plaintiff and defendants use the Internet to sell their goods. Both plaintiff and defendants market their
goods to women seeking accessories that will make them more attractive to male partners, or to men
seeking accessories that will increase the attractiveness of their female partners. Plaintiff and

defendants are thus in competition with respect to these goods.

24.  To the extent the difference in product quality and price might serve to lessen
confusion between plaintiff’s and defendants’ goods, defendants’ use of the Marks unfairly palms off
or misappropriates plaintiff’s name and reputation. Exhibit 17 contains a comparison of the similar
goods sold by plaintiff and defendants, as well as their price points. The first two sets of printouts in

Exhibit 17 (marked “17) are similar jewelry body chains selling for $179 on plaintiff’s site and $39.99
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on defendants’ site. The second two sets of printouts in Exhibit 17 (marked “2”) are similar jewelry
body chains selling for $179.56 on plaintiff’s site and $58.99 on defendants’ site. The third two sets
of printouts in Exhibit 17 (marked “3”) are similar jewelry body chains selling for $255.50 on
plaintiff’s site and $49.99 on defendants’ site. The fourth two sets of printouts in Exhibit 17 (marked
“4”) are similar jewelry body chains selling for $942.95 on plaintiff’s site and $35.95 on defendants’
site. As a result of defendants’ use of the Marks for the sale of goods that are similar in appearance,
but inferior in quality compared to plaintiff’s goods sold under the Marks, defendants create
confusion, unfairly divert sales from plaintiff, harm plaintiff by making it appear that plaintiff’s goods
are overpriced, and unfairly benefit from plaintiff’s name and reputation to sell their own inferior

goods.

Intentional Conduct

25.  Upon information and belief, defendants’ infringement of plaintiff’s marks is
knowing and willful. Plaintiff began using the Marks for body chain jewelry as early as 2003. By
2005, plaintiff’s name and reputation were well-established on the Internet due to substantial
investment in search placement and steady sales of goods under the Marks. Upon information and
belief, there were just a handful of businesses selling body chain jewelry on the Internet in 2005,
namely, plaintiff, www.odgirl.com; www.sblades.com; Beautifulstuff/eBay Store; Lin’s Body
Elegance/eBay Store; and defendants. It is therefore impossible that defendants were unaware of
plaintiff’s name and reputation on the Internet, and impossible that defendants’ use of the Marks

beginning in 2005 was unintentional.

26. On December 22, 2007, plaintiff sent a cease and desist demand to defendants
regarding defendants’ use of the Marks. Defendants responded by email the same day. Copies of the

December 22, 2007 demand, and defendants’ response are contained in Exhibit 18. In their response,

-7-
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defendants argued that they were not infringing the Marks, because they use the word HAREM in
different combinations of words not precisely overlapping plaintiff’s registered trademark HAREM

BODY CHAINS.

27.  In a further rejection of plaintiff’s claim of infringement, defendants had counsel
write to plaintiff on January 4, 2008 that defendants are justified in using the Marks based on the
superior right of a third party identified as Strangeblades (Chainmail & More) (“Strangeblades™) at
www.sblades.com. A copy of counsel’s letter is contained in Exhibit 19. Upon information and
belief, there was and is no basis to the assertion that Strangeblades has superior rights to the Marks
other than the false assertion on Strangeblades’ website that it has been using the HAREM BODY
CHAINS mark since 2002. Moreover, the January 4, 2008 letter made no attempt to show how

defendants should benefit from any prior use by Strangeblades as a factual matter or as a legal matter.

28. In addition to infringing use of the Marks on various websites, defendants are also
using the Marks in metatags, as shown, for example, in Exhibit 20, which is a printout of the Whois
record for Sexy-Naughty-Crotchless.com as it appeared on February 8, 2008. Use of the Marks in
metatags shows an intention by defendants to surreptitiously and unfairly divert search away from

plaintiff’s website to their own sales sites.

29. Asaresult of all of the foregoing, it is clear that defendants are intentionally

infringing the Marks in derogation of plaintiff’s rights and to compete unfairly with plaintiff.

Violations; Relief

30. Upon information and belief, defendants, by their above enumerated acts, have
willfully and knowingly violated and infringed and threaten to further infringe the rights of plaintiff in

plaintiff’s federally registered mark HAREM BODY CHAINS in violation of Section 32 of the
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Lanham Act (15 U.S.C. § 1114) with the intention of deceiving and misleading the consuming public,

and of wrongfully trading on the goodwill and reputation of plaintiff.

31.  Upon information and belief, defendants, by their above enumerated acts, have
willfully and knowingly used the Marks as a false designation of origin and a false and misleading
representation in violation of Section 43(a) of the Lanham Act (15 U.S.C. § 1125(a)) with the
intention of deceiving and misleading the consuming public, and of wrongfully trading on the

goodwill and reputation of plaintiff.

32.  Upon information and belief, by their tortious acts, defendants have caused and,
unless restrained by the Court, will continue to cause serious and irreparable injury and damage to

plaintiff and to the goodwill associated with the Marks.
33. Plaintiff has no adequate remedy at law.

34. Accordingly, plaintiff seeks an injunction enjoining defendants and those acting in
concert and participation with them from continuing to use the Marks, or any mark, name, description
or designation containing the word “harem” in connection with jewelry, and for an award of damages
as permitted by law, trebled for intentional conduct, plus costs and reasonable attorneys fees by reason

of defendants’ willful infringement of the Marks.

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION FOR DAMAGES AND AN
INJUNCTION UNDER LANHAM ACT § 43(a) BY
REASON OF FALSE ADVERTISING

35. Plaintiff repeats and realleges the allegations of paragraphs 1 through 8 and 10

through 34 as if set forth in full hereat.
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Defendants’ False Advertising that their Jewelry is Solid Gold

36. Defendants regularly advertise jewelry as solid gold or gold, though, upon
information and belief, it is at best gold-plated. Exhibit 21 contains several examples of such false
advertising for defendants’ goods from February 2008, including false advertising for products that are

directly competitive with plaintiff’s goods, namely, jewelry body chains.

37. For example, the first printout in Exhibit 21 carries the legend “SOLID 18K GOLD
Gep Full Body Belly Chain Chains HOT.” Such advertising is false and misleading, among other
things, in that the goods in question are not solid gold, but electroplated, and the fact of electroplating

is not adequately disclosed. 16 CFR § 23.4 provides that:

(a) It is unfair or deceptive to misrepresent the presence of gold or gold alloy in an
industry product, or the quantity or karat fineness of gold or gold alloy contained in
the product, or the karat fineness, thickness, weight ratio, or manner of application
of any gold or gold alloy plating, covering, or coating on any surface of an industry
product or part thereof.

(b) The following are examples of markings or descriptions that may be misleading:

(3) Use of the word “Gold” or any abbreviation to describe all or part of an
industry product that is not composed throughout of gold or gold alloy, but is
surface-plated or coated with gold alloy, unless the word “Gold” or its
abbreviation is adequately qualified to indicate that the product or part is only
surface-plated.

38. Upon information and belief, defendants intentionally seek to mislead consumers as
to the gold content of their goods by using an abbreviation, “Gep” or “gep” for gold electroplating,
that is not known to most consumers; by presenting the abbreviation in lower case, in contrast to the
gold description, which is in upper case; by matching the lower case of the abbreviation “Gep” or
“gep” to the lower case of the product description, so that the abbreviation is associated with the

product description, not the gold description; and by directly contradicting the abbreviation “Gep” or

-10-
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“gep” with the upper-case qualifier “SOLID” next to the words “18K GOLD” — all in direct violation

of applicable federal regulation as quoted above.

39. Defendants’ advertising claims regarding gold content are a false and misleading
misrepresentation of fact regarding defendants’ goods, used in commercial advertising, within the
meaning of Section 43(a) of the Lanham Act. Plaintiff, whose goods are comparable to defendants’
goods and offered for sale through similar marketing channels, is a person who is being damaged, and
who is likely to be damaged by defendants’ advertising claim, within the meaning of Section 43(a) of
the Lanham Act. Moreover, plaintiff is suffering irreparable harm, because defendants’ false and
misleading advertising claims that their goods are “SOLID 18K GOLD” and the like affect plaintiff’s
sales on an ongoing basis, and damage plaintiff’s reputation by making plaintiff’s comparable goods,
which are truthfully advertised, appear overpriced. Accordingly, plaintiff seeks an injunction
enjoining defendants and those acting in concert and participation with them from continuing to use
the advertising claims that their goods are “SOLID 18K GOLD,” “18K GOLD?” or the like. Plaintiff
also seeks an award of damages as permitted by law, trebled for intentional conduct, plus costs and
reasonable attorneys fees by reason of defendants’ violation of Section 43(a) of the Lanham Act

through the false advertising of gold content.

Defendants’ False Advertising that their Jewelry is Silver

40. Defendants regularly advertise jewelry as silver, though, upon information and belief,
it is at best silver-plated. Exhibit 22 contains several examples of such false advertising for
defendants’ goods from February 2008, including false advertising for products that are directly

competitive with plaintiff’s goods, namely, jewelry body chains.

-11 -
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41.  For example, the first printout in Exhibit 22 carries the legend “Solid 925 SILVER
sep Full Body Belly Chain chains Eros.” Such advertising is false and misleading, among other
things, in that the goods in question are not solid silver, but electroplated, and the fact of electroplating

1s not adequately disclosed. 16 CFR § 23.6 provides that:

(a) It is unfair or deceptive to misrepresent that an industry product contains silver,
or to misrepresent an industry product as having a silver content, plating,
electroplating, or coating ... unless it is at least 925/1,000ths pure silver.

42. Upon information and belief, defendants intentionally seek to mislead consumers as
to the silver content of their goods by using an abbreviation, “sep” for silver electroplating, that is not
known to most consumers; by presenting the abbreviation in lower case, in contrast to the silver
description, which is sometimes in upper case; by matching the lower case of the abbreviation “sep” to
the lower case of the product description, so that the abbreviation is associated with the product
description, not the silver description; and by directly contradicting the abbreviation “sep” with the

qualifiers “solid” or “sterling” — all in direct violation of applicable federal regulation as quoted

above.

43. Defendants’ advertising claims regarding silver content are a false and misleading
misrepresentation of fact regarding defendants’ goods, used in commercial advertising, within the
meaning of Section 43(a) of the Lanham Act. Plaintiff, whose goods are comparable to defendants’
goods and offered for sale through similar marketing channels, is a person who is being damaged, and
who is likely to be damaged by defendants’ advertising claim, within the meaning of Section 43(a) of
the Lanham Act. Moreover, plaintiff is suffering irreparable harm, because defendants’ false and
misleading advertising claims that their goods are “925 SILVER” and the like affect plaintiff’s sales
on an ongoing basis, and damage plaintiff’s reputation by making plaintiff’s comparable goods, which

are truthfully advertised, appear overpriced. Accordingly, plaintiff seeks an injunction enjoining

-12-
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defendants and those acting in concert and participation with them from continuing to use the
advertising claim that their goods are “925 SILVER” or the like. Plaintiff also seeks an award of
damages as permitted by law, trebled for intentional conduct, plus costs and reasonable attorneys fees

by reason of defendants’ violation of Section 43(a) of the Lanham Act through the false advertising of

silver content.
WHEREFORE, plaintiff prays that the Court:

1. Issue preliminary and permanent injunctions enjoining defendants and all persons
acting in concert and participation with them: (1) from using the marks HAREM or
HAREM BODY CHAINS, or any mark, name, description or designation containing the
word “harem” in connection with jewelry; (2) from making the advertising claim that
their jewelry is gold, unless it is composed throughout of fine (24 karat) gold; and
(3) from making the advertising claim that their jewelry is silver, unless it is composed

throughout of 925/1,000ths silver;

il. Award damages for trademark infringement to plaintiff as permitted by law,
including plaintiff’s actual damages and all unjust enrichment obtained by defendants by
reason of their infringement of the Marks, trebled for intentional conduct, together with

costs and attorneys fees;

il. Award damages for false advertising to plaintiff as permitted by law, including
plaintiff’s actual damages and all unjust enrichment obtained by defendants by reason of
their false advertising, trebled for intentional conduct, together with costs and attorneys

fees; and

v, Award plaintiff such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper.

-13-
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DATED this 4th day of March, 2008.

LAW OFFICES OF PHILIP A. KANTOR, P.C.

Y P
Philip A. Kantor, Nevada Bar No. 6701
Suite 202
8440 W. Lake Mead Blvd.
Las Vegas, Nevada 89128

Attorneys for Plaintiff
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